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A jury found James Maxwell guilty of two counts of knowingly possessing



child pornography in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2252A(a)(5)(B).! Asa

' That section of the statute provides,

Any person who . . . knowingly possesses any book, magazine, periodical, film,
videotape, computer disk, or any other material that contains an image of child
pornography that has been mailed, or shipped or transported in interstate or
foreign commerce by any means, including by computer, or that was produced
using materials that have been mailed, or shipped or transported in interstate or
foreign commerce by any means, including by computer . . . shall be punished as
provided in subsection (b).

Definitions of § 2252A’s terms are contained in 18 U.S.C. § 2256. We reprint § 2256, as it read
at the time of Maxwell’s indictment, below. The section was amended just days before
Maxwell’s trial, see Pub. L. No. 108-21, tit. V, § 502(a) to (c), 117 Stat. 678, 679 (2003), but the
amendments are of no moment in this case.

§ 2256. Definitions for chapter
For the purposes of this chapter, the term—

(1) “minor” means any person under the age of eighteen years;

(2) “sexually explicit conduct” means actual or simulated—

(A) sexual intercourse, including genital-genital, oral-genital, anal-genital, or
oral-anal, whether between persons of the same or opposite sex;

(B) bestiality;

(C) masturbation;

(D) sadistic or masochistic abuse; or

(E) lascivious exhibition of the genitals or pubic area of any person;

(3) “producing” means producing, directing, manufacturing, issuing, publishing,
or advertising;

(4) “organization” means a person other than an individual,

(5) “visual depiction” includes undeveloped film and videotape, and data stored
on computer disk or by electronic means which is capable of conversion into a
visual image;

(6) “computer” has the meaning given that term in section 1030 of this title;

(7) “custody or control” includes temporary supervision over or responsibility for
a minor whether legally or illegally obtained;

(8) “child pornography” means any visual depiction, including any photograph,
film, video, picture, or computer or computer-generated image or picture, whether
made or produced by electronic, mechanical, or other means, of sexually explicit
conduct, where—

(A) the production of such visual depiction involves the use of a minor engaging
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jurisdictional element of the offense, the statute required the Government to prove
that the child pornography, or at least the material that produced it, traveled in
interstate commerce. At Maxwell’s trial, the Government did not establish that the
child pornography moved across state lines. Consequently, its case relied on
establishing that the images were produced by materials that did.

Maxwell appeals his convictions on four grounds. The first three grounds
are insufficient to warrant reversal. The fourth ground is that the application of
§ 2252A(a)(5)(B) to the facts of his case amounts to an unconstitutional exercise

of the Commerce Clause. That ground has merit and requires that we reverse

in sexually explicit conduct;

(B) such visual depiction is, or appears to be, of a minor engaging in sexually
explicit conduct;

(C) such visual depiction has been created, adapted, or modified to appear that an
identifiable minor is engaging in sexually explicit conduct; or

(D) such visual depiction is advertised, promoted, presented, described, or
distributed in such a manner that conveys the impression that the material is or
contains a visual depiction of a minor engaging in sexually explicit conduct; and
(9) “identifiable minor”—

(A) means a person—

(1)(I) who was a minor at the time the visual depiction was created, adapted, or
modified; or

(II) whose image as a minor was used in creating, adapting, or modifying the
visual depiction; and

(i1) who is recognizable as an actual person by the person’s face, likeness, or other
distinguishing characteristic, such as a unique birthmark or other recognizable
feature; and

(B) shall not be construed to require proof of the actual identity of the identifiable
minor.

18 U.S.C. § 2256 (1996) (amended 2003).



Maxwell’s convictions.

Maxwell rented a room in Alberta Wallace’s apartment in St. Petersburg,
Florida from May until August of 2002. During that time, Maxwell used
Wallace’s computer to access the Internet, and she had access to Maxwell’s mail
and computer accounts. Wallace eventually grew suspicious that Maxwell was
interested in homosexual Internet activity, some involving children, and she
contacted the police about her concerns.

Wallace allowed the Federal Bureau of Investigation to search her
apartment. FBI agents copied the contents of Wallace’s computer hard drive and
seized almost 140 items. Most of these items consisted of computer disks and film
taken from Maxwell’s room. One item was a zip disk® containing several hundred
images of child pornography.

Subsequent to the search, Wallace found additional disks in a drawer in
Maxwell’s room, and she turned them over to the FBI. One was a floppy disk

containing about fifteen images of child pornography.

* Special Agent Keith Arndt of the FBI, a specialist in examining evidence on computers
and other digital media, described zip disks at Maxwell’s trial. According to Arndt, zip disks are
removable devices that are used to store computer files, much like standard floppy disks. The
technology that facilitates storage is slightly different for zip disks than it is floppy disks, and zip
disks therefore can only be used in computers that are equipped with a zip drive. Zip disks are
capable of storing substantially more information than floppy disks.
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In January 2003, a grand jury indicted Maxwell on two counts of possessing
child pornography in violation of 18 U. S. C. § 2252A. Count I was predicated on
the zip disk described above. Count II was predicated on the floppy disk. (We
refer to these two disks collectively as “the charged disks.”)

Maxwell was arraigned in February, plead not guilty, and stood trial in May.
The Government presented the testimony of Wallace and several law enforcement
officials from various agencies.

Wallace testified that she knew Maxwell from church and dated him briefly
after her husband passed away. They stopped dating after a short time, in part
because Wallace was offended when she learned that Maxwell was living with an
unmarried couple that engaged in sexual relations (with one another, not
Maxwell). By the time Maxwell moved in to Wallace’s apartment, he and Wallace
were merely platonic friends and slept in different rooms. No one else had a key
to the apartment or stored possessions there. At first, Maxwell accessed the
Internet with his own computer, but he began using Wallace’s computer, with her

permission, after his Internet service was disconnected. In August 2002, Maxwell



moved out of the apartment.” He gave Wallace power of attorney to manage his
personal affairs for the time he would be gone. She had access to his bank account
and paid bills for Maxwell’s various expenses, including moving and cell phone
expenses. Maxwell also gave Wallace access to his personal post office box and
e-mail accounts. Around the beginning of September, in the course of her
stewardship, Wallace says she discovered e-mail messages involving
homosexuality and teenagers in Maxwell’s accounts. When Wallace questioned
him about those messages, he became angry, and the two never spoke to one
another prior to Maxwell’s trial. In October, Wallace contacted the police about
her suspicions that Maxwell accessed (and possibly possessed) child pornography.
She allowed the FBI to search Maxwell’s former room and observed agents
seizing items that Maxwell had moved into that room. Wallace testified that she
had two filing cabinets of her own in Maxwell’s room, but they only contained
materials she used for teaching. She stored no computer disks of her own in
Maxwell’s room (in the filing cabinet or otherwise) and never used Maxwell’s

disks. Furthermore, Wallace never gave anyone else (other than the FBI) access to

> Maxwell left Wallace’s apartment to serve a prison sentence for an unrelated state
offense, but Wallace was not asked to explain this reason for Maxwell’s absence in front of the
jury. Maxwell intended to return to the apartment following his release. Because of Wallace’s
concerns and the events that followed, however, he never did return.
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Maxwell’s room or computer disks. In addition to the room, Wallace permitted
the FBI to examine some of her belongings, including the laptop computer
Maxwell used to access the Internet. Wallace testified that she never viewed child
pornography on that computer and never let anyone other than Maxwell use it. A
few days after the FBI search, Wallace found some additional computer disks that
she identified as belonging to Maxwell and forwarded them to the FBI. She never
used those disks or allowed others to use them.

The Government introduced into evidence a wide array of physical exhibits,
including the charged disks. The zip disk, corresponding to Count I, was admitted

as Government Exhibit S5A. Its label, which was published to the jury, contained
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the following handwritten words: ‘“adult and young,” “pre teens,” “piss,”
“shaved,” and “pierced.” The word “animals” also appeared but had been crossed
out. The floppy disk, corresponding to Count II, was admitted as Government
Exhibit 7. Although these two disks—along with several others that were not
charged in Maxwell’s indictment—were admitted as physical exhibits, the court
precluded the jury from viewing their contents with this exception: the
Government was permitted to offer into evidence as separate exhibits hard copies

made of portions of the disks. Some of the hard copies were images of child

pornography. The court permitted the Government to admit a total of ten such



hard copy images from all of the disks in evidence, and the Government chose to
introduce images from the two charged disks only (even though other admitted
disks in evidence also contained pornographic images).*

Agent Philippe Dubord of the Hillsborough County Sheriff’s Office was
assigned to the “Innocent Images Task Force” with the FBI and investigated
Maxwell’s case. Dubord identified and described the charged disks, along with
corresponding exhibits showing information about the files contained on those
disks (such as the names of the files, when they were saved on the respective
disks, when they were last accessed, and the names of the directories in which they
were stored). The names of the folders in which some of the images were saved
included “adult,” “young,” and “pre teen.” On cross-examination, Dubord
conceded that neither of the charged disks contained files bearing Maxwell’s name
or picture (although such contents did appear on other disks that were found
among Maxwell’s possessions).

Other prosecution witnesses identified two of the persons depicted on the
charged disks as minor children, one from Florida and the other from Texas.

Special Agent Susan Koteen of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement

* Although the prosecution did not show the jury images contained on the uncharged
disks, it did elicit testimony that those disks contained images of child pornography.
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testified that she recognized the physical surroundings shown in the images
involving the Florida child. She identified them as the child’s home, located in
Howie-in-the-Hills, a small town in Lake County, Florida. Detective-Sergeant
Katherine Davis of Angleton, Texas identified the Texas child but could not
determine where the photographs were taken.

As additional circumstantial evidence that Maxwell knowingly possessed
pornographic images, the Government introduced a recording of a phone
conversation between Maxwell and his pastor, Linda Sessler.” The Government
played the recording at trial and distributed a transcript of its contents to the jury.
Maxwell initiated the phone call on November 10, 2002 (three days before the FBI
searched Wallace’s apartment) from the Hillsborough County jail, where he was
being held on unrelated charges. During the call, Sessler indicated that law
enforcement officials planned to search his belongings at Wallace’s apartment.
Maxwell responded,

Well do me a favor . . . umm, get my floppy disk and all of my zip

disks from [Wallace]. ‘Cause some of it [ have recipes and stuff on

and, and some of them I had started journals and stuff. And some
stuff I have that was long before genesis and stuff. But just get all of

> This evidence was admitted through the testimony of Katherine Cochran of the
Hillsborough County Sherift’s Office, who monitored the telephone system at the Hillsborough
County Jail used by inmates there. Cochran explained that all inmate phone calls were recorded
and that warnings to that effect were visibly posted near the prison phones.
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that stuff. But I can, some of I can’t remember what it is. And some
of it I have been wiping out some of the disks. And uhh, just get all
of that stuff and put it somewhere.

(Ellipses in original). Sessler asked if the materials to which Maxwell was
referring were labeled. He replied,
It was just a big box. It had a bunch of floppy disks. And then there
was the zip disks that are about the size of a floppy they’re just a little
bit bigger. It doesn’t have anything to do with uhh, anything that they
were talkin’ about. But as you had said there’s no more problems
needed and so that would alleviate that. But I was, I woke up in the
middle of the night and last night I was sick, I had a fever and
everything. I don’t know what was going on. ... And I said let me
ask you about that again. And just ask you to do that. But just all of
my floppy disks and my zip disks. Just take them and just put ‘em
somewhere.
Sessler indicated doubt about this instruction and surmised to Maxwell that law
enforcement authorities were “just tryin’ to see if they can find anything.”
Maxwell agreed. He said,
Right, well that’s why, that’s why . . . that would just solve any
problems that might would come up. Like you said, like if they
totally had to have a [unintelligible] come in and look but in case they
don’t or in case they do, you know . . . it keep the problems down.
(Both ellipses and alteration in original).
Over Maxwell’s objection, the Government also introduced a plethora of

testimony and exhibits into evidence concerning Maxwell’s conduct beyond his

possession of the charged disks. This evidence concerned several other computer
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disks containing depictions of child pornography that were seized from Wallace’s
home but were never charged against Maxwell in his indictment (collectively, the
“uncharged evidence”). These materials consisted of a CD-Rom, two zip disks,
and thirteen floppy disks. The uncharged evidence also included testimony and
exhibits concerning Maxwell’s e-mail accounts with online services including
Yahoo and MSN Hotmail. The Government introduced records supplied by
Yahoo indicating that Maxwell established a user profile under the name

“boy lover69 69.”° Dubord testified about evidence indicating that Maxwell had
accessed a Yahoo Internet group where files could be shared among users.’
Although Dubord could not access the files stored on that group’s website and
could not say for certain whether Maxwell did, Dubord observed that the website
contained three folders that were associated with Maxwell’s account and entitled
“boys,” “boys 2,” and “boys 3.” The Government also introduced testimony and
evidence about certain messages Maxwell received on his MSN Hotmail account.

These messages contained subject lines suggesting that Maxwell had become a

6 User profiles connected to an Internet account are like online identities created by the
account user. Other Internet “surfers” can learn about the account user by reading his profile, and
they can often contact him through it or share files with him if they so desire.

7 According to Agent Dubord, Internet “groups” are websites “where people have a
common interest where they . . . meet and chat, post messages, . . . share pictures, . . . [and]
interact basically.” Dubord testified that the title of an Internet group will often identify the
group’s interests.
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member of Internet groups named “Rex’s place for gay/bi boys :)”; “gay and bi
boys (teens)”; and “Daily Digest for gay&bi teen guys.” Dubord could not say
however, whether Maxwell ever accessed these groups after becoming a member.
Finally, Dubord testified about nine uncharged images of child pornography
discovered in temporary Internet folders on Wallace’s computer.®

Before it rested its case-in-chief, the Government asked the court to read a
stipulation to the jury concerning the purported relationship between Maxwell’s
charges and interstate commerce. The court complied and informed the jury as
follows:

It is stipulated and agreed between the parties that the computer zip

disk that is the basis for Count 1 of the Indictment, and the computer

floppy disk that is the basis for Count 2 of the Indictment, were both

manufactured outside the State of Florida and have been mailed,

shipped or transported in interstate commerce.
The Government then rested. Maxwell put on no defense and also rested.’

On May 7, 2003, after approximately two hours of deliberation, the jury

returned a verdict finding Maxwell guilty of Counts I and II. On August 12, the

¥ Software programs that facilitate Internet use often store information accessed on the
Internet on the user’s computer in temporary folders. The programs typically create these folders
automatically and without the user’s direction.

’ Maxwell did, however, move for a judgment of acquittal pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P.
29. The court denied the motion.
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court sentenced him to a total of sixty-six months in prison.'’
II.
Maxwell appeals his convictions on four distinct grounds. We address each
in turn in Subparts A. through C. below. We begin with Maxwell’s

nonconstitutional arguments. See, e.g., Lyng v. Northwest Indian Cemetery

Protective Ass’n, 485 U.S. 439, 445, 108 S. Ct. 1319, 1323,99 L. Ed. 2d 534

(1988) (“A fundamental and longstanding principle of judicial restraint requires
that courts avoid reaching constitutional questions in advance of the necessity of
deciding them.”). Because none of these arguments permit us to dispose of
Maxwell’s appeal, we proceed to his constitutional argument.
A.
First, Maxwell contends that the uncharged images and evidence concerning

his Internet activity should not have been admitted into evidence. We review a

district court’s evidentiary rulings for abuse of discretion. United States v. Dodds,
347 F.3d 893, 897 (11th Cir. 2003). “A district court abuses its discretion if it
misapplies the law or makes findings of fact that are clearly erroneous.” Ambrosia

Coal & Constr. Co. v. Pages Morales, 368 F.3d 1320, 1332 (11th Cir. 2004)

' He received sixty-month term for Count I and an additional six-month term for Count
II. The court specified that the terms would run consecutively.
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(citations omitted).

The district court found that the uncharged evidence was admissible under
Rule 404(b) of the Federal Rules of Evidence. That rule provides,

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove

the character of a person in order to show action in conformity

therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as

proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge,

identity, or absence of mistake or accident, provided that upon

request by the accused, the prosecution in a criminal case shall

provide reasonable notice in advance of trial, or during trial if the

court excuses pretrial notice on good cause shown, of the general

nature of any such evidence it intends to introduce at trial.

Without question, the uncharged evidence was probative of Maxwell’s knowledge
and intent. Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion in admitting it.
B.

Maxwell next argues the evidence against him was insufficient to establish
that he knew that the charged disks contained images of child pornography.
Knowledge is an element of the charged offenses. See 18 U.S.C.

§ 2252A(a)(5)(B) (establishing criminal liability for any person who “knowingly

possesses” material “that contains an image of child pornography”).

We review challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence de novo. United

States v. Alaboud, 347 F.3d 1293, 1296 (11th Cir. 2003). In so doing, we view the

evidence in the light most favorable to the Government, taking all reasonable
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inferences and credibility determinations reached in the Government’s favor. Id.
Because Maxwell chose not to testify, evidence of his knowledge was
necessarily circumstantial. The Government presented considerable circumstantial

evidence of Maxwell’s knowledge. First, Wallace and Agent Dubord indicated
that the disks were found in Maxwell’s room among Maxwell’s possessions.

Some of the disks contained labels such as “adult and young” and “pre teens,”
suggesting that the disks’ owner knew they contained files concerning children.
Wallace testified that she did not plant the disks in that room, did not use the
disks, and did not allow others access to the room. Finally, when she broached the
subject of her suspicion to Maxwell, he responded with anger, not surprise. This
testimony, coupled with evidence about the location, appearance, and contents of
the disks, might have been sufficient to establish Maxwell’s knowing possession.
But the Government did not stop there.

As described in Part I.B supra, the Government also presented ample
evidence of Maxwell’s interest in pornography, including “pre teen” pornography.
The Government showed that Maxwell joined pornographic Internet groups with
names and file directories suggesting an interest in “boys.” Maxwell identified
himself in at least one of these groups as “boy lover69 69.” The Government

also showed that child pornography had been accessed online from Wallace’s
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computer, which Maxwell had used, and that numerous disks containing child
pornography, other than the charged disks, were found among his possessions.
The jury could have inferred from this evidence that Maxwell had an interest in
child pornography and that his possession of the two charged disks was not
accidental or unknowing.

Finally, the Government introduced compelling evidence of a phone
conversation between Maxwell and his pastor. Just days before the search of
Wallace’s apartment, Maxwell instructed his pastor to remove evidence, including
floppy disks and zip disks in particular, from the scene. A reasonable factfinder
could have inferred from this conversation, especially in light of the other
evidence, that Maxwell knew that the charged disks contained child pornography.

The jury might have disregarded some of this evidence as unreliable; it
might have accepted some of the evidence but decided that it did not support a
finding that Maxwell knew about the illicit images. Ultimately, however, the jury
was persuaded that Maxwell knowingly possessed child pornography. It does not
matter whether we would have reached the same finding based on the same
evidence. It only matters that the jury’s finding was reasonable. Because it

obviously was, Maxwell is not entitled to relief on this ground.

C.
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Maxwell’s third argument is that his convictions rest upon a
misconstruction of the term “produced” within the meaning of the statute on which
his convictions were based. To prosecute Maxwell successfully under that statute,
the Government had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Maxwell

knowingly possess[ed a] book, magazine, periodical, film, videotape,

computer disk, or any other material that contain[ed] an image of

child pornography [1] that [was] mailed, or shipped or transported in

interstate or foreign commerce by any means, including by computer,

or [2] that was produced using materials that [were] mailed, or

shipped or transported in interstate or foreign commerce by any

means, including by computer.

18 U.S.C. § 2252A(a)(5)(B) (emphasis added). Because the Government did not
establish that the pornographic images moved across state lines, its case relied
entirely on establishing that the materials that “produced” the disks containing the
images moved across state lines.

As explained above, the Government proved that Maxwell knowingly
possessed one zip disk and one floppy disk containing images of child
pornography. The Government did not establish that Maxwell knowingly
possessed cameras or similar devices that were used to capture the original
depictions stored on these disks.

Although Maxwell stipulated that the charged disks traveled in interstate

commerce before they contained the illegal images, see Part I.B supra, he argues
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that those disks did not “produce[]” pornographic images. Disks, Maxwell
contends, are nothing more than storage media, and their transportation in
interstate commerce is irrelevant to § 2252A(a)(5)(B)’s jurisdictional element.
Maxwell suggests that the materials that “produce[]” pornography in satisfaction
of the statute’s jurisdictional element only include cameras, film, and similar
devices that are used to give “being, form, or shape” to the original images.
Maxwell insists that, because the Government showed only that he stored images,
as opposed to producing them, his convictions must be reversed.

We cannot agree. Maxwell’s disingenuous reading of the statute ignores the
statute’s plain language. That language directs the word “produced” to media

containing illegal images, rather than some abstract conception of images divorced

from that media. As the statute makes clear, possessing a computer disk
containing child pornography is no different than possessing a magazine that
contains child pornography. 18 U.S.C. § 2252A(a)(5)(B). In a case charging
possession of a pornographic magazine, certainly the Government could establish
that the magazine was produced with materials that traveled in interstate
commerce by demonstrating that the pornographic images contained therein were
photographed by a camera imported from out of the state or country. But the

camera would not be the Government’s only recourse. The Government would
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show that other materials were also used to create the magazine, including film,
paper, a printing press, glue or staples, and quite possibly a computer. If the
Government established that any of those materials “ha[d] been mailed, or shipped
or transported in interstate or foreign commerce by any means,” then the
Government would have met the burden required by the text of § 2252A(a)(B)(5).
This understanding of the statute yields a logical consequence: the
production of any pornographic material that is prohibited by the statute such that
it could not legally travel in interstate commerce constitutes production that
satisfies statute’s jurisdictional requirement. Whether that material is the original
depiction or a copy is irrelevant. Thus, while describing child pornography in
written prose or storing it in a paper envelope would not amount to production,
duplicating that pornography—in printed or electronic format—would. By the
terms of the statute (momentarily setting aside the distinct question of the statute’s
validity), possessors of child pornography cannot legally use materials that
traveled in interstate commerce to copy illicit images and thereby create
independent contraband, even if the images were originally photographed in-state
with cameras and film manufactured within the state’s borders. Nor can they
cleanse the taint of an image taken with a camera that traveled in interstate

commerce simply by destroying the original film and image, and retaining only
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copies that were made with equipment manufactured in-state. Ultimately, the
contraband item on which the charge is based—be it a photograph or computer
disk, an original or duplicate—could not have been “produced” without the
camera, film, and the tangible medium on which it was printed, written, displayed,
or copied.

If there is a difficult case as to what materials “produced” contraband media
containing images of child pornography, it is not Maxwell’s case. He was indicted
for possessing two disks containing child pornography. This proscribed media
was “produced” with numerous materials, including a camera, computers disks,
and, presumably, a computer. Here, the Government proved by stipulation that the
computer disks used to produce the bases for Maxwell’s indictment traveled in
interstate commerce. As far as the text of the statute 1s concerned, then, the

Government met its burden. See, e.g., United States v. Angle, 234 F.3d 326, 341

(7th Cir. 2000) (“We believe . . . that computerized visual depictions (i.e.,
computer graphic files) are ‘produced” when computer equipment, including
computer diskettes, are used to copy the depictions onto the diskettes that have

traveled in interstate commerce.”)."

""" This decision and many others we discuss have addressed statutes similar to the one at
issue, most prominently including 18 U.S.C. § 2252(a)(4)(B). That statute provides,
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D.

Maxwell’s final and most forceful argument is that Congress could not have
enacted § 2252 A such that it would apply here without exceeding the scope of its
legislative authority. For that reason, Maxwell argues, § 2252A is
unconstitutional as it has been applied in his particular case.'?

We review district court conclusions as to the constitutionality of a

challenged statute de novo."” See, e.g., United States v. Panfil, 338 F.3d 1299,

Any person who . . . knowingly possesses 1 or more books, magazines,
periodicals, films, video tapes, or other matter which contain any visual depiction
that has been mailed, or has been shipped or transported in interstate or foreign
commerce, or which was produced using materials which have been mailed or so
shipped or transported, by any means including by computer, if—

(1) the producing of such visual depiction involves the use of a minor engaging in
sexually explicit conduct; and

(i1) such visual depiction is of such conduct;

shall be punished as provided in subsection (b) of this section.

Although this statute contains different language in part, the terms of its jurisdictional
requirement are identical to those of § 2252A, the statute under which Maxwell was convicted.

' We do not reach the question of whether § 2252A is facially invalid. Although
Maxwell attacked the statute on its face in the district court, his argument on appeal is confined
to an as-applied challenge.

" The Government contends that Maxwell failed to preserve this issue for appeal and
that we are, therefore, limited to review it for plain error. The Government is wrong. At the
close of the evidence, Maxwell made an oral motion under Fed. R. Crim. P. 29(a) for a judgment
of acquittal. We agree it is debatable whether he challenged § 2252A°s constitutionality at that
time. Within seven business days of his convictions, however, Maxwell filed a written renewed
motion for judgment of acquittal. See Fed. R. Crim. P. 29(c). In that motion, Maxwell explicitly
argued that “18 U.S.C. § 2252A(a)(5)(B) is unconstitutional on its face and as applied to his case,
since Congress exceeded its authority under the Commerce Clause by making the intrastate
possession of child pornography a federal crime.” Thus, there can be no question that the
constitutional issue before us—now limited to an as applied challenge—was properly preserved
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1300 (11th Cir. 2003).
Our discussion of this issue proceeds in three parts. First, we discuss the
limited power of Congress as a general matter. Second, we weigh the four

considerations the Supreme Court enumerated in United States v. Morrison, 529

U.S. 598, 120 S. Ct. 1740, 146 L. Ed. 2d 658 (2000), for determining the extent of
Congress’s power to regulate “those activities having a substantial relation to
interstate commerce.” 1d. at 610-12, 120 S. Ct. at 1749-51. In the third part, we

conclude our analysis of Maxwell’s as-applied challenge.

l.

in the district court.

The Government, pointing to our decision in United States v. Viscome, 144 F.3d 1365,
1370 (11th Cir. 1998), invites us to hold that Maxwell waived this argument because he raised it
for the first time after the jury returned its verdict. Even if we found that the argument was not
presented in the preconviction motion for judgment of acquittal, we could reach no such holding.
In Viscome, appellant Gentile assailed the constitutionality of the statute under which he was
charged for the very first time after he was found guilty. Gentile’s motion containing this
argument was untimely. Id. at 1370. Maxwell’s written, renewed motion was not. Rule 29(c)
permits defendants to file such motions “within 7 days after a guilty verdict.” Fed. R. Crim. P.
49(d) specifies that papers filed in criminal cases must be “filed in a manner provided for in a
civil action.” In turn, Fed. R. Civ. P. 6(a) provides that weekends and legal holidays are
excluded from the computation of filing deadlines of less than 11days. Thus, Maxwell had seven
business days to file his renewed motion. The jury returned guilty verdicts against him on May
7,2003. Maxwell filed his motion on May 16, exactly seven business days later. The
Government’s response to Maxwell’s renewed motion made no intimation that the argument was
waived. The district court also correctly assumed that the constitutional argument was properly
before it. For that reason, the court addressed the issue squarely on the merits and explicitly
found that “18 U.S.C. § 2252A(a)(5)(B) is constitutional on its face and as applied to Defendant
Maxwell.”

Since Maxwell raised his argument on time, Viscome is inapposite. His constitutional
challenge was preserved for this appeal, and we must review it de novo.
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“Th[e] [federal] government is acknowledged by all to be one of enumerated
powers. The principle, that it can exercise only the powers granted to it . . . is now

universally admitted.” United States v. Lopez, 514 U.S. 549, 566, 115 S. Ct.

1624, 1633 (quoting McCulloch v. Maryland, 17 U.S. (4 Wheat.) 316, 405, 4 L.

Ed. 579 (1819)). Accordingly, Congress can legislate only within the ambit of the
specific powers the Constitution confers on it. The regulation of criminal activity

in particular has long been regarded as a role reserved primarily to the states. See,

e.g., Morrison, 529 U.S. at 618, 120 S. Ct. at 1754 (“[W]e can think of no better

example of the police power, which the Founders denied the National Government
and reposed in the States, than the suppression of violent crime and vindication of
its victims.”); id. at 619 n.8, 120 S. Ct. at 1754 n.8 (“[T]he principle that the
Constitution created a Federal Government of limited powers, while reserving a
generalized police power to the States, is deeply ingrained in our constitutional
history.” (original alterations and quotation marks omitted)). Accordingly,
“[u]nder our federal system the administration of criminal justice rests with the
states except as Congress, acting within the scope of [its] delegated powers, has

created offenses against the United States.” Screws v. United States, 325 U.S. 91,

109, 65 S. Ct. 1031, 1039, 89 L. Ed. 1495 (1945) (plurality opinion).

Through the Child Pornography Prevention Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-
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208, § 121, 110 Stat. 3009-26 (1996) (codified as amended in scattered sections of
18 U.S.C. ch. 110), and subsequent amendments, Congress has crafted an offense
against the United States for the possession of child pornography, including such
pornography that originated within a given state and remained there. Maxwell
was convicted of this offense as it is codified in 18 U.S.C. § 2252A(a)(5)(B).

In this case, the Government established that Maxwell knowingly possessed
child pornography in Florida. That pornography was saved on computer disks that
had traveled from out-of-state before they contained illegal images. The
Government proved nothing more. Apart from the origin of the disks (before they
had been committed to nefarious purposes), Maxwell’s case involved no apparent
connection to activity beyond Florida. Yet, the Government contends that the
power to enforce § 2252 A against Maxwell stems from the authority provided to
Congress by the Constitution’s Commerce Clause. Pursuant to that clause,
Congress has authority “[t]o regulate Commerce . . . among the several States.”
U.S. Const. art. I, § 8, cl. 3.

Time has borne out that the text of the Commerce Clause is no model of
clarity. Consequently, the Supreme Court has struggled to define its boundaries.
Since the early 1800s, the Court has emphasized that the power to regulate

commerce 1s not a blank check:
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Comprehensive as the word ‘among’ is, it may very properly be
restricted to that commerce which concerns more States than one.
The phrase is not one which would probably have been selected to
indicate the completely interior traffic of a State, because it is not an
apt phrase for that purpose; and the enumeration of the particular
classes of commerce, to which the power was to be extended, would
not have been made, had the intention been to extend the power to
every description. The enumeration presupposes something not
enumerated; and that something, if we regard the language or the
subject of the sentence, must be the exclusively internal commerce of
a State.

Gibbons v. Ogden, 22 U.S. (9 Wheat.) 1, 194-95, 6 L. Ed. 23 (1824). In recent
years, the Supreme Court has synthesized its voluminous Commerce Clause
precedent and determined that the Clause authorizes Congress to regulate “three
broad categories of activity”:

(1) “the use of the channels of interstate commerce”;

(2) “the instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or persons or things
1n interstate commerce”; and

(3) “those activities having a substantial relation to interstate
commerce, 1.€., those activities that substantially affect interstate
commerce.”
Lopez, 514 U.S. at 558-59, 115 S. Ct. at 1629-30 (citations omitted). As the
Supreme Court made clear in Lopez, Congress may regulate any channels or

instrumentalities of interstate commerce. It may also regulate any person or thing

1n interstate commerce.
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Its authority under the commerce clause is more limited, however, with
respect to other subjects and activities, such as activities conducted entirely within
a state’s borders. Although Congress can undoubtedly regulate certain intrastate
activity, its power extends over intrastate activity only if that activity bears a
“substantial relation to interstate commerce,” or as the Court clarified, if it
“substantially affect[s] interstate commerce.” See id. at 559, 115 S. Ct. at 1630
(“Within this final category, admittedly, our case law has not been clear whether
an activity must ‘affect’ or ‘substantially affect’ interstate commerce in order to be
within Congress’ power to regulate it under the Commerce Clause. . .. We
conclude . . . that the proper test requires an analysis of whether the regulated

activity ‘substantially affects’ interstate commerce.”); United States v. Ballinger,

312 F.3d 1264, 1270 (11th Cir. 2002), vacated by 369 F.3d 1238 (11th Cir. 2004)
(awaiting rehearing en banc) (“Whereas Congress may regulate any
instrumentality or channel of interstate commerce, the Constitution permits
Congress to regulate only those intrastate activities which have a substantial effect
on interstate commerce, and such regulation of purely intrastate activity reaches

the outer limits of Congress’ commerce power.”).'* Stated bluntly, wholly

' We cite Ballinger on the strength of its reasoning only. Because the decision has been
vacated and will be reheard by our full court, it is not the law of this circuit.
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intrastate activities that have a only minimal or insubstantial effect on interstate
commerce are not proper subjects for federal regulation, at least not through the
power bestowed by the Commerce Clause.

2.

In this case, the challenged statute does not govern the “channels of
interstate commerce,” and the Government did not establish that the proscribed
images were “things in interstate commerce.” Lopez, 514 U.S. at 558, 115 S. Ct.
at 1629. Rather the Government has prosecuted Maxwell for intrastate possession
of child pornography and relies entirely for its convictions on the fact that the
disks on which the pornography was copied traveled in interstate commerce before
they contained the images. Therefore, if Congress has proscribed Maxwell’s
conduct pursuant to a “power][] granted to it,” id. at 566, 115 S. Ct. at 1633
(quoting McCulloch, 17 U.S. (4 Wheat.) at 405), it must be because the intrastate
possession child pornography falls within Lopez’s third category of activities that

“substantially affect interstate commerce.” Cf. United States v. Adams, 343 F.3d

1024, 1028 (9th Cir. 2003) (“Of course, the possession of child pornography
[under § 2252] concerns neither the channels nor the instrumentalities of interstate
commerce. It follows that the possession of child pornography must ‘substantially

affect interstate commerce’ in order for Congress to regulate it under the
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Commerce Clause.”); United States v. Holston, 343 F.3d 83, 88 (2d Cir. 2003)

(holding that assessing the constitutionality of a related statute, 18 U.S.C.
§ 2251(a), “requires us to determine whether, in light of the Morrison factors, the
statute regulates an activity that substantially affects’ interstate commerce”);

United States v. Corp, 236 F.3d 325, 326 (6th Cir. 2001) (sustaining an as-applied

challenge to § 2252 after applying only the test for Lopez’s third category of

Commerce Clause regulation); United States v. Rodia, 194 F.3d 465, 474 n.3 (3d

Cir. 1999) (“[W]e will consider the [18 U.S.C. § 2252(a)(4)(B)] only under
[Lopez’s] category (iii), referring to the relevant inquiry in this case whether it was
reasonable for Congress to believe that the behavior regulated substantially affects
interstate commerce.”).

The Supreme Court has articulated four considerations for determining
whether an activity “substantially affects” interstate commerce such that it can be
validly regulated through Commerce Clause legislation:

1) whether the statute in question regulates commerce “or any sort of

economic enterprise”; 2) whether the statute contains any “express

jurisdictional element which might limit its reach to a discrete set” of

cases; 3) whether the statute or its legislative history contains

“express congressional findings” that the regulated activity affects

interstate commerce; and 4) whether the link between the regulated

activity and a substantial effect on interstate commerce is
“attenuated.”
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United States v. McCoy, 323 F.3d 1114, 1119 (9th Cir. 2003) (quoting Morrison,

529 U.S. at 610-612, 120 S. Ct. at 1750-51).

We analyze § 2252A’s validity as applied to Maxwell’s specific case in
light of these four considerations, which we have reordered for convenience of
discussion. The statute is constitutional in its application to Maxwell if “a rational
basis existed for concluding that” the intrastate possession of child pornography
produced with materials that traveled in interstate commerce “sufficiently affect[s]
interstate commerce.” Lopez, 514 U.S. at 557, 115 S. Ct. at 1629.

a.

Turning to Morrison’s first consideration, we discern nothing commercial or
economic about the possession of child pornography, even if that pornography is
saved on computer disks that were imported from out-of-state. The act of
possession alone—the only act for which Maxwell was charged—entails no
transactions, no consumption of goods or services, and no necessary resort to the
marketplace."”

Maxwell’s conduct can be sharply distinguished from the activity the

Supreme Court found subject to Commerce Clause regulation in Wickard v.

5 We make no judgment today as to whether the distinct acts of producing, buying,
selling, trading, warehousing, distributing, or marketing child pornography constitute economic
or commercial activity.
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Filburn, 317 U.S. 111, 63 S. Ct. 82, 87 L. Ed. 122 (1942). In Wickard, an Ohio
farmer challenged Congress’s power to enact a 1941 amendment to the
Agricultural Adjustment Act of 1938. Id. at 113, 63 S. Ct. at 83. As amended, the
act assessed a “marketing penalty” against the farmer because he grew more wheat
than the amount permitted by the act’s marketing quota. Id. This quota “not only
embrace[d] all that may be sold without penalty but also what may consumed on
the premises” of a given farm. Id. at 119, 63 S. Ct. at 86. The farmer sought a
declaration that the act’s quota provisions were unconstitutional as applied to him.
Id. at 113-14, 63 S. Ct. at 83. He argued that the production and consumption of
wheat are “beyond the reach of Congressional power under the Commerce Clause,
since they are local in character and their effects upon interstate commerce are at
most ‘indirect.”” Id. at 119, 63 S. Ct. at 86. The Supreme Court disagreed. In
reaching its decision, the Court explained,

The general scheme of the Agricultural Adjustment Act of 1938 as

related to wheat is to control the volume moving in interstate and

foreign commerce in order to avoid surpluses and shortages and the

consequent abnormally low or high wheat prices and obstructions to

commerce.
Id. at 115, 63 S. Ct. at 84. Thus, the challenged act constituted a civil scheme

directed at controlling the cost and flow of rival goods in the marketplace. The

Court’s holding relied heavily on the statute’s economic purpose and Congress’s
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long-recognized authority to enact price regulations that affect the national
market:

It 1s well established by decisions of this Court that the power to

regulate commerce includes the power to regulate the prices at which

commodities in that commerce are dealt in and practices affecting

such prices. One of the primary purposes of the Act in question was

to increase the market price of wheat and to that end to limit the

volume thereof that could affect the market.

Id. at 128, 63 S. Ct. at 90-91 (footnote omitted). The Court concluded that even
the growth and consumption of wheat locally, if left unregulated, “would have a
substantial effect in defeating and obstructing its purpose to stimulate trade therein
at increased prices.” 1d. at 129, 63 S. Ct. at 91.

The regulation at issue in Maxwell’s case, by contrast, has no clear
economic purpose. It makes no effort to control national trade by regulating
intrastate activity. Instead, it attempts to regulate primary conduct directly, even
within state borders. Unlike wheat, pornography is a nonrival good. Maxwell is
charged with possessing it, and possessing pornography does not result in its
consumption such that the overall supply of pornography in the market is reduced.
In any event, Congress is clearly not concerned with the supply of child

pornography for the purpose of avoiding surpluses and shortages or for the

purpose of stimulating its trade at increased prices.
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Nor does it seem that § 2252 A represents a federal effort to reduce the
trafficking of cameras, computers, staples, blank paper, film, or disks in interstate
commerce. We are aware of no related regulation that prohibits the movement of
these items when they are not committed to the purpose of producing child
pornography. Congress’s express findings in the Child Pornography Prevention
Act of 1996'° reveal no hint that Congress was concerned about the materials used
to produce pornography or how those materials would impact interstate commerce.
The statute provides no variation in punishment (or any other distinction for that
matter) for pornography produced with very few materials transported in interstate
commerce and pornography produced with many such materials. Moreover, while
the statute is constructed such that each item of child pornography a defendant
possesses can serve as the basis for a separate conviction, it does not permit
multiple convictions based on possession of a single item containing child
pornography simply because that item was produced with numerous materials that
traveled in interstate commerce.

These circumstances persuade us that Congress’s reference in this statute to
production materials smacks of pretext; the statute’s true and core purpose is to

criminalize the possession of child pornography. Thus, we conclude that regulated

' We discuss these findings and related findings in greater detail in Part I1.D.4, infra.
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intrastate activity in this case is more similar by far to the brand of intrastate
criminal conduct that is a proper subject for state regulation alone than it is to the
sort of economic activity addressed in Wickard. Cf. Morrison, 529 U.S. at 618,
120 S. Ct. at 1754 (“The regulation and punishment of intrastate violence that is
not directed at the instrumentalities, channels, or goods involved in interstate
commerce has always been the province of the States.”).

“[A] fair reading of Lopez shows that the noneconomic, criminal nature of
the conduct at issue was central to [the Court’s] decision in that case.” 1Id. at 610,
120 S. Ct. at 1750. Here, the noneconomic, criminal nature of Maxwell’s conduct
is central to our decision.

b.

Morrison and Lopez, also considered whether the regulated activity’s

substantial effect on interstate commerce was attenuated. The Court expressed
reluctance to consider the long reaching, indirect effects of criminal acts on
interstate commerce when assessing the scope of Congress’s power under the
Commerce Clause. After all, if we were to weigh the “but-for causal chain” from
the occurrence of crime, traced to “every attenuated effect on interstate
commerce,” then “Congress might use the Commerce Clause to completely

obliterate the Constitution’s distinction between national and local authority.” See
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Morrison, 529 U.S. at 615, 120 S. Ct. at 1752. The Court characterized this
extended-causation approach as “unworkable if we are to maintain the
Constitution’s enumeration of powers.” 1d.

If Maxwell’s conduct has had any effect on interstate commerce, that effect
is attenuated to say the least. In the first place, we reiterate that there is nothing
inherently commercial or economic about the mere possession of pornographic
images. We also reemphasize the evident fact that the statute’s jurisdictional
element is directed at overcoming the legal hurdle of obtaining federal
jurisdiction, rather than an aspect of the primary subject matter Congress wishes to
control. This is not regulation of conduct to achieve price regulation or other
economic ends; it is regulation of primary conduct, aimed at preventing Americans
from engaging in certain activity under any circumstances. This circumstance
alone necessarily attenuates the relationship between regulated conduct and
interstate commerce to some degree. After all, § 2252A°s own terms suggest that
the very idea of interstate commerce is at least once removed from the regulated
activity with which statute is truly concerned, i.e., the possession of child
pornography.

The full extent to which the relationship is attenuated, however, becomes

apparent only after looking, as we must, to Maxwell’s specific conduct. As far
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interstate commerce is concerned, Maxwell has done nothing more than possess
two disks that traveled from out-of-state. While possessing materials of
production might conceivably have a direct impact on interstate commerce in
certain circumstances, Maxwell’s convictions present no such case. The causal
chain necessary to link his activity with any substantial impact on interstate
commerce might be long enough to reach the outer limits of the solar system.

The findings Congress announced with its initial enactment of § 2252A
suggest in relevant part, first, that

the existence of and traffic in child pornographic images . . . inflames

the desires of child molesters, pedophiles, and child pornographers

who prey on children, thereby increasing the creation and distribution

of child pornography and the sexual abuse and exploitation of actual

children who are victimized as a result of the existence and use of

these materials . . . [and, second, that] prohibiting the possession and

viewing of child pornography will encourage the possessors of such

material to rid themselves of or destroy the material, thereby helping

to protect the victims of child pornography and to eliminate the

market for the sexual exploitative use of children.
Child Pornography Prevention Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-208, § 121, 110 Stat.
3009-27 (1996). Whether this explanation of how possessing child pornography
can substantially affect interstate commerce is too attenuated as a general matter,

we need not say. It is sufficient to remark that, on the facts of this case, there is

simply no record evidence to suggest that Maxwell was a potential child molester
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or that his conduct would likely increase the creation and distribution of child
pornography elsewhere, much less to the extent that such creation and distribution
would have a substantial effect on interstate commerce. The record is also devoid
of evidence that Maxwell’s possession of pornography would encourage others to
possess such material in any direct or substantial manner.

Other circuits have concluded that the intrastate possession of child
pornography has a direct impact on the national market for child pornography by
looking beyond the isolated conduct of the defendant and considering the
aggregate effect of such possession by others throughout the country.'’

We believe this aggregate approach cannot be applied to intrastate criminal
activity of a noneconomic nature. Congress wields the power to regulate interstate

child pornography, not because such pornography has a substantial effect on

"7 See, e.g., Holston, 343 F.3d at 90 (“Since no one would doubt Congress’s ability to
regulate a national market in child pornography, the question becomes whether Congress could
rationally have determined that it must reach local, intrastate conduct in order to effectively
regulate a national interstate market. . . . [W]e conclude that Congress, in a